RECEIVED
OCT 01 2014
SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Aiken County

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID EUGENE ROSIER JR.,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002259

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Rosier's motion to either suppress the jail calls involving Rosier or grant Rosier a continuance in order to make a motion to the "reviewing authority," which is a three judge panel of the Court of Appeals, for a hearing to determine if the jail calls violated the Homeland Security Act found at S.C. Code Section 17-30-10 through 145?

2. Did the trial court err in overruling defense counsel objections to two improper arguments made by the state during his closing argument when the solicitor referred to Appellant Rosier by his nickname of "Dollar" and told the jury that their decision was an important one for the community which improper comments violated Rosier's right to a fair trial because they tended to destroy the impartiality of the jurors?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 13, 2013, the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted David E. Rosier on the charges of murder and the possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. On October 7-10, 2013, Rosier proceeded to trial before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, and a jury. Rosier was represented by Walis A. Alves and C. David Hayes. The state was represented by Kevin Molony and David W. Miller. The jury found Rosier guilty of the lesser offense of voluntary manslaughter and the possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. R. 206, ll. 18 – R. 207, ll. 9. Judge Early sentenced Rosier to the maximum sentence of thirty years on the voluntary manslaughter and five years on the gun charge to run concurrently. R. 219, ll. 9 – 20. Rosier's trial counsel filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On November 10, 2012, David Rosier and his son, Calvin, were able to pay for Rosier's other son, Josh, to bond out of the local detention center. In order to raise enough money for the bond, the father Rosier and Calvin had to remove copper from the old family home which was not being used at the time, to sell. R. 91, ll. 12 – 25; R. 95, ll. 1-25. After getting Josh out, Josh immediately started calling his girlfriend, Brittany, to tell her their relationship was over because she did not help with paying his bond which she had agreed to do. He just wanted to get his clothes. R. 123, ll. 7 – R. 129, ll. 14.

Then the three of them-David, Josh, and Calvin- went home to eat and let Josh shower and dress. David Rosier said they had no real plans for the evening except he was going to see his girlfriend, Katie. They borrowed the car of a friend of Rosier's, Terry Phillips, and took Josh to get his clothes from the place Josh and Brittany had been living. Then they went to the Rainbow Bait and Tackle Store and watched the Georgia-Alabama football game. R. 129, ll. 15 – R. 131, ll. 8.

Then Josh got a call from Brittany, and Josh said he needed to go see her. Then Rosier, Josh, Calvin, and Cody, the son of Terry Phillips and who was designated to drive Terry's car, went to Brittany's dad's house. Josh went in alone, and came out with Brittany and another girl named Autumn. Rosier just wanted to get away from them because he did not like Brittany. They took him to his girlfriend's, Katie's, house but she had left. R. 131, ll. 9 – R. 132, ll. 25; R. 124, ll. 20 – R. 125, ll. 4.

In the meantime, Brittany and Autumn started talking to Josh about three guys whom they all knew. The men were Russell Blackmon, C. J. Shaw who was the nephew of Rosier, and Colby who was a cousin of C.J. The three men and another man named D.J.

Davis, were close friends and hung out at the same house most of the time. R. 107, ll. 2 – 24; R. 114, ll. 10 – R. 115, ll. 6; R. 133, ll. 6 – 10.

Brittany, who was sitting on Josh's lap in the backseat, started telling Josh that Blackmon and Colby and C.J. held her and Autumn in a motel room. Josh started getting very frustrated and angry. At this point, they had no plans to do anything but get groceries R. 133, ll. 20 – R. 136, ll. 10.

Rosier kept telling Josh to let it go because Josh just got home and did not need to get in any more trouble. Finally, Rosier decided they just needed to go to Blackmon's place and confront Blackmon about the incident in the motel room with Brittany. The only reason Rosier wanted to go was to keep Josh from getting in any more trouble. Rosier had just torn up his family home to get money to bond Josh out. Rosier denied there was any plan to fight Blackmon or to rob him. R. 136, ll. 12 – R. 137, ll. 25.

Rosier had no weapons except he carried a pocketknife that he used doing his work as an electrician. He said he never gave that knife to Josh. He went to the house with his son, Josh, and C.J. answered the door when Rosier knocked. Rosier asked to see Blackmon. Rosier's testimony was that he saw Josh then get into a physical altercation with the young man sitting on the sofa. Blackmon and C.J. then come running into the room. Blackmon had a pistol and pointed it at Josh and then at Rosier. Rosier began wrestling with Blackmon to get the gun. During this, the gun went off and Josh screamed. Rosier picked up the gun from the floor and ran to the car where Calvin and the others were waiting. Josh came running and they left. R. 138, ll. 1 – R. 140, ll. 23.

Rosier did not know that the young man on the sofa had been shot and killed until the others saw it on Facebook that night. He did not know that the young man had been cut

with a knife as well. Josh's hand had been shot also. Rosier sold the gun for \$30 at the Waffle House that night. He left the others and got a motel room that Saturday night. He was arrested Monday morning. R. 140, ll. 24 –R. 144, ll. 25.

Josh's testimony differed from his father's. According to Josh, he and his father and Calvin, had telephone conversations when Josh was still incarcerated before they bonded him out on November 10, 2012. These concerned declaring war on Russell Blackmon, C.J. Shaw, D.J. Davis and Colby. Josh learned that Brittany was seeing D.J. Davis. They were going the "beat their ass." R. 52, ll. 1 – R. 60, ll. 25.

Josh's testimony was similar to his father's, until the point they got to the house where the incident took place. Josh said his father gave him the knife as they walked up to Blackmon's house. The knife was like a box cutter with a razor blade type cutter. Neither Josh nor his father had guns. R. 64, ll. 1 – 68, ll. 25.

When they entered the house, D.J. Davis was sitting on the couch. C.J. was also in the room. Josh and D.J. started fighting. Blackmon entered the room holding a .357 revolver pistol. His dad hit Blackmon and the gun fell to the floor. Josh then started cutting D.J. with one hand when D.J. was sitting on the sofa, while holding D.J. down with his other hand. Josh then heard a gunshot. D.J. was shot. Josh turned around and saw his father standing there holding the same revolver. As they were leaving, his dad pointed the gun at C.J. who was crying. Josh told his dad not shoot C.J. because he was a relative. Josh and David Rosier then left. R. 69, ll.6 - 74, ll. 25.

Calvin testified that he was in the car with his dad, Rosier, and his brother Josh on the night of the incident. Calvin never went in the house, but he was charged with accessory after the fact of murder. No one had guns, but he saw a gun in his dad's lap when they

returned to the car. R. 91, ll. 12 – 25; R. 92, l. 1 – 25; R. 106, ll. 8 – 23; 103, ll. 1 – 19

Calvin confirmed that there was no plan to fight anyone, and that his father told Josh to leave it alone when Josh got upset about Blackmon trying to tie Brittany up in a motel room. His dad tried to get Josh to calm down. However, when Josh meant he was going in the house to fight, his dad, Rosier, was not going to let Josh go in by himself. R. 100, ll. 1 – 25; R. 101, ll. 1 – 25; R. 102, ll. 1 – 25; R. 103, ll. 1 – 17. He learned about the death of D.J. Davis when Brittany pulled it up on Facebook when they stopped at a gas station that night. Calvin did not know Davis. R. 93, ll. 13 – R. 94, ll. 24; R. 99, ll. 14 – 23.

Calvin talked with his dad via telephone after his dad was incarcerated. R. 104, ll. 23 – R. 106, ll. 9. Calvin had also talked with Josh during his incarceration before the incident happened. R. 96, ll. 7 – R. 99, ll. 25.

C.J. Shaw testified that he saw everything. The gun Rosier had was C.J.'s gun. C.J. called 911. R. 107, ll. 1 – R. 109, ll. 15.

The pathologist, Dr. Janice Ross, performed the autopsy on D.J. Davis. Davis died from bleeding of the heart due to a gunshot wound to the chest. Davis also had incised lacerations to his face caused by sharp instrument. R. 43, ll. 14 – R. 44, ll. 9; R. 46, ll. 6 – R. 47, ll. 14; R. 48, ll. 10 – 18; R. 50, ll. 13 – R. 51, ll. 5.

In a pretrial motion, defense counsel moved before the trial court for a continuance to review more discovery. Another independent reason for the continuance was to determine whether the wiretapping of the jail phone calls between Rosier and his sons was legal under the Homeland Security Act. Counsel cited S.C. Code Section 17-30-110 which provided: “Prior to any trial in any court, the aggrieved party may make a motion to suppress the use

of an intercepted communication on the grounds that the communication was unlawfully intercepted.”

Counsel went on to explain that the statute stated that the motion would be heard before the “reviewing authority” which was defined in Section 17-30-5 as a panel of three judges of the South Carolina Court of Appeals, designated by the Chief Judge of the Court of Appeals. Counsel stated that she had not made any motion before the Court of Appeals who had jurisdiction to make the determination if the interception of the jail calls was in accordance with the Homeland Security Act. She told the judge that she set this out in her memorandum which was presented to the trial court and made Court’s Exhibit One. Counsel argued this was another reason for a continuance. R. 6, ll. 1- R. 7, ll. 16; R. 5.

The judge allowed defense counsel to argue her motion concerning the Homeland Security Act more in depth at a later time because the judge needed to address that issue. Counsel argued that one of the reasons she made a motion for a continuance was to have the Court of Appeals decide if the jail calls of Rosier were intercepted properly pursuant to Section 17-30-10 etc. Counsel objected to the calls being admitted because they were in violation of the Homeland Security Act found at Section 17-30-10 et seq. R. 15, ll. 1 – 17.

Counsel stated that the Act provides that any interception of a wire communication, which includes any oral transfer which was a telephone call, must be made in accordance with that Act. Counsel argued that was nothing in the Act that differentiated a jail call from that of any other person. There was nothing in South Carolina that excluded jail calls from coming under the Act. R. 15, ll. 13 -25.

Counsel argued that the only time law enforcement was allowed to tape phone calls under the Act was when they had a court order issued by a judge. There was nothing in the

law addressing the use of these jail calls by the detention center staff. R. 19, ll. 8 – R. 20, ll. 24.

Counsel expected the state to argue that Rosier had no right to privacy as an inmate, but counsel pointed out that he still had the presumption of innocence at that point. He had to communicate with family members about his case. R. 16, ll. 23 – 17, ll. 12. Counsel said it was her understanding that the calls could now be routed directly to the solicitor's telephone, and the solicitor could choose which inmate they wanted to listen. This was a violation of the law and went beyond the probable purpose of the interceptions of being to protect the safety of the jail. R. 17, ll. 13 – R. 32, ll. 9.

The judge denied the motion to suppress the jail calls as he found that the calls were not covered by the Homeland Security Act. R. 33, ll. 1 – 7. The judge had previously denied the motion for a continuance. R. 10, ll. 21 – 22.

In his closing argument to the jury, the solicitor referred to Rosier by his nickname of "Dollar." Defense counsel objected on the basis that it went to show improper character to refer to Rosier as "Dollar." The judge ruled that he would allow it during argument. This had come out earlier during Josh's testimony when he said his father was known as "Dollar Bill" and Josh was known as "Little Man." R. 68, ll. 9 – 20; R. 173, ll. 5 – 20.

Later in his closing argument the solicitor said to the jurors:

Your decision that you're going to make in this case is important. It's an important one for the family and friends of D.J. Davis. It's an important one for this community.

R. 180, ll. 2 – 5.

Defense counsel objected as improper argument. The judge said: "All right. Go ahead." R. 180, ll. 6 – 7.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant Rosier's motion to either suppress the jail calls involving Rosier or grant Rosier a continuance in order to make a motion to the "reviewing authority," which is a three judge panel of the Court of Appeals, for a hearing to determine if the jail calls violated the Homeland Security Act found at 17-30-10 through 145.

South Carolina Code Section 17-30-10 provides that the interception of wire, electronic, or oral communications is authorized only in the manner permitted by this chapter. A wire communication is defined in 17-30-15(1) as any aural transfer made in whole or in part through the use of facilities for the transmission of communications by the aid of wire, cable, or other like connection between the point of origin and the point of reception including the use of this connection in a switching station furnished or operated by any person engaged in providing or operating the facilities for the transmission of intrastate, interstate or foreign communications.

Section 17-30-15(3) defines intercept as the aural or other acquisition of the contents of any wire, electronic, or oral communication through the use of any electronic, mechanical, or other device.

Section 17-30-110 provides that prior to any trial, hearing or proceeding in or before any court, department, officer, agency, regulatory body, or other authority, any aggrieved person may move to suppress the contents of any intercepted wire, oral, or electronic communication, or evidence derived there from, on the grounds that the:

- (1) communication was unlawfully intercepted;
- (2) the order of authorization or approval under which it was intercepted is insufficient on its face; or

(3) interception was not made in conformity with the order of authorization or approval. The statute states that the motion must be before the reviewing authority and must be decided on an expedited basis. The reviewing authority pursuant to Section 17-30-15(9) means a panel of three judges of the South Carolina Court of Appeals designated by the Chief Judge of the South Carolina Court of Appeals.

From the statute, it is clear that the telephone calls between Rosier and his two sons fit the definition of wire communication. The calls met the definition of intercept. The state presented no evidence that the interceptions of the jail calls were lawfully made. There was no evidence presented that a judge had ordered the interceptions. The detention staff were not SLED agents which is allowed under the Act.

Defense counsel asked in her written memorandum (Court's Exhibit One) and in oral argument before the judge either that the calls be suppressed or the trial court grant her a continuance so she could make a motion to the Court of Appeals. Counsel also argued that the circuit court did not have jurisdiction or authority to decide if the calls were a violation of Section 17-30-10 and 110.

The trial court was in error in ruling that the jail calls did not come under the Homeland Security Act as that was clearly in the sole domain of the court of Appeals by law.

In State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (2012), the Supreme Court held that absent an ambiguity, the court will look to the plain meaning of the words used in the statute to determine their effect. All rules of statutory construction are subservient to the one that the legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in the light of the intended purpose of the statute.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in overruling defense counsel objections to two improper arguments made by the state during closing argument when the solicitor referred to Appellant Rosier by his nickname of “Dollar” and told the jury that their decision was an important one for the community which improper comments violated Rosier’s right to a fair trial because they tended to destroy the impartiality of the jurors?

In State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 674 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2009), the Court of Appeals defined the “Golden Rule” Argument as one that suggests to jurors they put themselves in the shoes of one of the parties; in criminal arena, such an argument is generally improper because it asks the jurors to place themselves in the victim’s place. The “Golden Rule” Argument tends to destroy all sense of impartiality of jurors, and its effect is to arouse passion and prejudice, thereby encouraging jurors to depart from neutrality and to decide the case on the basis of personal interest and bias rather than on the evidence.

A solicitor’s closing argument must be carefully tailored so as not to appeal to the personal biases of the jury. Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 698 S.E.2d 561 (2010) citing State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 468 S.E.2d 620 (1996).

In State v. Northcutt, 372 S.C. 207, 222, 641 S.E.2d 873 (2007), the Supreme Court held that while the solicitor should prosecute vigorously, his duty is not to convict a defendant but to see justice done. The solicitor’s closing argument must of course, be based on this principle. The argument must be carefully tailored so as not to appeal to the personal bias of the juror nor be calculated to arouse his passion or prejudice.

In Rosier’s case, the judge said:

Credibility is not only the central issue but the, basically the sole issue in this case. Who do you believe? Which side of the story do you believe?