ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Aiken County
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III
Appellate Case No 2013-002259

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DAVID EUGENE ROSIER, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

STROM THURMOND, JR.
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

109 Park Avenue SE, Room 117
Aiken, SC 29801
(803) 642-1557

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

TI Appeal From Aiken County ge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the recorded telephone calls made from the county jail.

II. The circuit court properly overruled Appellant's objection to portions of the solicitor's closing argument

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent concurs with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On May 13, 2013 the Aiken County Grand Jury indicted Appellant David E. Rosier on one count of murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a crime of violence. The charges arose from an incident on November 10, 2012, during which Appellant shot and killed Donnie James (“D.J.”) Davis (the “Victim”). The case was called for a jury trial on October 7, 2013, before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge.

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to suppress recordings of telephone calls he made from the Aiken County Detention Center, asserting the recordings constituted an illegal wiretap under the South Carolina Homeland Security Act, and law enforcement was only allowed to intercept communications with a court order. The State argued Appellant consented to the recordings by using the jail telephones in light of signs at the telephones and an audio recording advising the parties the call will be recorded. The circuit court denied the motion to suppress, finding the jail calls were not subject to the Homeland Security Act. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 42-60), Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 15-33)

The pathologist who performed the Victim’s autopsy testified the Victim had a gunshot wound in the chest, and the bullet went through the heart and the aorta. In addition, the Victim had “incise wounds” on the right side of his head. The pathologist determined the cause of death was exsanguination due to the laceration of the Victim’s heart and aorta. (TT, pp. 133-140; R., pp. 44-51).

Appellant’s son, Joshua Rosier (“Josh”), testified he was in jail for five days prior to the murder, and identified the recordings of phone calls he made to his brother and Appellant from the jail. Josh stated his brother and Appellant “declared war” on Carlton “C.J.” Shaw (Appellant’s nephew), Donnie “D.J.” Davis (the Victim), Colby Reed and

Russell Blackmon, which meant “we was going to go beat their ass.” (TT, pp. 146-154; R., pp. 52-60).

On the morning of November 10th, Josh bonded out of jail. His brother and Appellant picked him up, and they spent the early evening drinking and watching college football, then picked up Josh’s girlfriend and her friend. Josh testified they eventually drove to Russell Blackmon’s house “to get the dope that they had and jump on D.J. and Russell and Colby.” When asked to clarify what he meant by “jump on” he stated “whoop their ass.” (TT, pp. 155-158; R., pp. 61-64).

Josh and the Appellant walk to the house. Josh testified neither man had a gun, but Appellant handed him a blue box-cutter knife, “in case I needed it.” (TT, pp. 159-162; R., pp. 65-68).

Appellant knocked on the door and identified himself as “Dollar,” which was an abbreviated version of his nickname, “Dollar Bill.” Appellant’s nephew and the Victim were in the living area when they entered the house, and Josh got into a fist fight with the Victim. According to Josh, Blackmon entered the room holding a gun, and Appellant hit him and knocked the gun to the floor. Josh pulled out the box cutter Appellant gave him, and repeatedly cut the Victim with it until he heard a gunshot. Josh testified he turned and saw Appellant holding the gun. When Appellant pointed the gun at Josh’s cousin, Josh begged him not to shoot because he was related to them. (TT, pp. 163-168; R., pp. 69-74).

Josh and Appellant then fled the house, and Appellant still had the gun used in the shooting. Josh testified he realized he had been shot in the hand, and when he told Appellant, Appellant replied, “next time move out of the f**king way.” (TT, pp. 168-171; R., pp. 74-77)

They drove to a gas station, and Josh gave the box-cutter knife to his girlfriend to get rid of it. The girlfriend gave it to her friend, who rinsed the blood off, wrapped it in paper towels and dropped it in the trash. They ultimately drove to a house in Augusta, Georgia, “to get away from the cops.” (TT, pp. 172-174; R., pp. 78-80).

Appellant sold the murder weapon to a man at the house in Augusta, and Josh took a shower and put his blood-stained clothes in a burn barrel. Appellant subsequently left the house on foot, and the girlfriend’s father picked the others up the next day to take them home. Josh was arrested at his home the following day, and took police to the house in Augusta where the truck they drove was still parked. (TT, pp. 175-178; R., pp. 81-84).

A forensic scientist with SLED testified she analyzed several swabs SLED received from the Aiken County Sheriff’s Department, including swabs from the truck, the porch of the home where the shooting occurred, a swatch of khaki shorts fabric, and a folding knife, as well as a sample of the Victim’s blood for DNA comparison purposes. She further testified the blood found in the vehicle was the Victim’s blood, and the probability of randomly selecting an unrelated individual with a matching DNA profile was one in ninety-five trillion. (TT, pp. 267-272; R., pp. 85-90).

Appellant’s nephew, Carlton “C.J.” Shaw (“Shaw”), testified he let Josh and Appellant into Blackmon’s house, and went to the back of the house to tell Blackmon that “Dollar” was there. When the fight broke out, he and Blackmon came into the living area and saw Josh punching the Victim, and Appellant pointing a gun. Appellant shot the Victim when he got up to run away, and when Shaw tried to run out the front door, Appellant grabbed him and threw him against the front door, but Josh stopped Appellant from shooting him. Shaw testified the gun used in the murder belonged to him, it was

laying on a table in the living area when he went to get Blackmon, and he saw Appellant shoot it that night. (TT, pp. 312-326; R., pp. 107-121).

The jury convicted Appellant of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during a crime of violence, and the circuit court sentenced him to concurrent prison terms of thirty years and five years, respectively. (TT, pp. 444-445, 457; R., pp. 206-207, 219). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

I. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's motion to suppress the recorded telephone calls made from the county jail.

Appellant asserts the circuit court erred in denying his motion to suppress the recordings of calls he made from the Aiken County jail telephone. He contends the recording of the phone calls by jail staff constituted an illegal wiretap in violation of the South Carolina Homeland Security Act. In addition, Appellant argues the circuit court should have granted a continuance so he could move for a hearing before the South Carolina Court of Appeals, as the "reviewing authority" under the Homeland Security Act, to determine the legality of the calls.

In 2002, the South Carolina General Assembly enacted the Homeland Security Act, expressly finding legislative enhancements were required to ensure the safety of South Carolina's citizens, including enhancement of tools available to law enforcement, in light of "the tragic events of September 11, 2001, involving acts of terrorism against the people of the United States and . . . continued threats against the peace and safety of our nation." 2002 Act. No. 339, §2. Thus, the **express** purpose of the Act was to enhance, not restrict, law enforcement's ability to conduct investigations

The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the legislature, and all statutory construction rules are subservient to the rule that legislative intent must prevail if it is reasonably discoverable from the statutory language as construed in light of the statute's intended purpose. State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863-864 (2012). "Under general rules of statutory construction, a jurisdiction adopting legislation from another jurisdiction imports with it the judicial

gloss interpreting that legislation.” *Id* at 864 (quoting Orr v. Clyburn, 277 S.C. 536, 290 S.E.2d 804, 806 [1982]).

The wiretap provisions of the Homeland Security Act (hereinafter “the Wiretap Act”) are patterned after the Omnibus Crime Control and Safe Streets Act of 1968 (18 U.S.C. §2510).¹ *Id* at 863. The Wiretap Act is violated when a person intercepts oral communications not otherwise **exempt**, or subject to an **exception**, and evidence intercepted in violation of the Wiretap Act must be suppressed pursuant to S.C. Code §17-30-110 (2014). When a party to a communication gives consent for the communication to be intercepted, however, the recording does **not** violate the law. *Id* at 864; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. §17-30-30 (2014) (exceptions)

Code §17-30-30 (B) provides: “It is **lawful** under this section for a person acting under color of law to intercept a wire, oral, or electronic communication, where the person is a party to the communication **or one of the parties has given prior consent to the interception.**” (emphasis added)² In addition to information regarding the telephone system provided to all new inmates, before an inmate’s telephone call from the jail is allowed to proceed, the jail’s telephone system plays a recorded message informing inmates and the people they call from the jail their conversations are subject to recording and monitoring. (State’s Exhibits 19, 20 and 21 [Telephone Call CDs]; Defendant’s

¹The federal law applies to jail telephone call recordings. *See United States v. Hammond*, 286 F.3d 189, 192 (4th Cir. 2002) (“Although the argument has been made that Title III was not intended by Congress to apply to prisons, it is well accepted that its protections do apply to that context”)

²The statute essentially codifies the one party consent doctrine. *See State v. Andrews*, 324 S.C. 516, 479 S.E. 2d 808 (Ct. App. 1996) (recording of conversation when one party to the conversation consents does not violate constitutional or statutory rights).

Exhibits 1 and 2 [Telephone Call CDs]).³ Continuing the call after that warning constitutes **both** parties' consent to the call being recorded by the jail for any purpose.

As argued by the State before the circuit court, even if the Wiretap Act applies to jail telephone call recordings, Appellant consented to the recordings, which is an express exception to the Wiretap Act's requirements. Therefore, the recordings were expressly lawful under §17-30-30(B), obviating the need for a court order and reviewing panel determination, and the circuit court properly admitted them as evidence.

³These Exhibits will be transported to the Court for consideration.

II. The circuit court properly overruled Appellant's objections to portions of the solicitor's closing argument.

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in overruling his objections to the solicitor referring to him as "Dollar" during closing argument, and telling the jury its decision was important for the community, arguing the statements violated his right to a fair trial because they tended to destroy the jurors' impartiality. As a threshold matter, the issue is not preserved for appellate review as to either statement. Even if preserved, however, Appellant's contentions are patently meritless.

It is well established in South Carolina that an issue must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. Roberts v. State, 408 S.C. 123, 757 S.E.2d 744, 748 (Ct. App. 2014) (*citng* State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 [2011]). "Moreover, in order to preserve the issue for appeal, an objection must be sufficiently specific to inform the trial court of the point being urged by the objector." Wilder Corp v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). *See also* State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 482 S.E.2d 760 (1997) (failure to state specific grounds for objection to solicitor's closing argument did not preserve any issue for appellate review); Jean H. Toal, Shahin Vafai & Robert Muckenfuss, Appellate Practice in South Carolina, 2nd ed. 73-74 (2002) (same). A party may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal. State v Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 355, 751 S.E.2d 645, 661 (2013).

"On appeal, the appellate court will view the alleged impropriety of the solicitor's argument in the context of the entire record." Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). "Improper comments do not automatically require reversal if they are not prejudicial to the defendant, and the appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of the alleged improper argument." Humphries v.

State, 351 S.C. 362, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002).

A. Use of Appellant’s nickname “Dollar”

During trial, several witnesses, including Appellant, referenced Appellant’s nickname “Dollar” or “Dollar Bill,” and the solicitor used this nickname during closing argument. Appellant objected, asserting it was “improper character to keep referring to Dollar.” The circuit court overruled the objection. (TT, pp. 409-410; R , pp. 172-173). Citing Vasquez v. State, 388 S.C. 447, 698 S.E 2d 561 (2010), Appellant now asserts use of this nickname was unfairly prejudicial and tended to destroy the impartiality of the jury. Appellant did not raise this issue in the circuit court, and therefore, it is not properly before this Court for review. In any event, Appellant’s assertion is meritless.

In Vasquez, a death penalty case, the solicitor: (1) referred to the defendant, a Muslim, as a “domestic terrorist,” drawing a correlation between his indicted conduct and the events of September 11, 2001; and (2) urged jurors to imagine the fear and terror of one of the murder victims. 698 S.E.2d at 563. The South Carolina Supreme Court reversed the denial of post-conviction relief as to the penalty phase, finding trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object to the solicitor’s comments, which were “inflammatory,” and “used in conjunction with the solicitor’s extensive reference to the events of September 11, 2011.” *Id* at 567, 570.

In this case, two witnesses testified, without objection, that Appellant identified himself as “Dollar” when he knocked on the door at Blackmon’s house. (TT, pp. 162, 320-321, R , pp. 68, 115-116). Appellant also testified, without objection, that his nickname is “Dollar.” (TT, pp. 373-374; R., pp. 145-146). Thus, the solicitor merely repeated Appellant’s undisputed nickname, with no commentary or editorial added. There simply is no comparison between the reference to a Muslim defendant as a

“domestic terrorist” in Vasquez, and merely referencing a nickname Appellant himself provided in this case, which has no particular negative connotation.⁴ At best, Appellant’s contention the reference unfairly prejudiced the jury is conclusory and unsupported.

B. Comment regarding importance of jury’s decision

Relying on State v. Harris, 382 S.C. 107, 674 S.E.2d 532 (Ct. App. 2009), Appellant argues the solicitor’s comment in closing argument regarding the importance of the jury’s decision to the family and the community violated the “Golden Rule” doctrine, and denied him a fair trial.⁵ Appellant only objected to the comment as “improper argument,” and did not otherwise raise this issue in the circuit court.⁶ Therefore, it is not preserved for appellate review, but even if preserved, Appellant’s argument has no merit.

The “Golden Rule Argument” asks the jury to put themselves in the victim’s place, and is generally improper for criminal prosecutions because it tends to destroy the jury’s impartiality, and appeal instead to personal bias. 674 S.E.2d at 539. “Such an argument tends to destroy all sense of impartiality of the jurors, and its effect is to arouse passion and prejudice, thereby encouraging the jurors to depart from neutrality and to decide the case on the basis of personal interest and bias rather than on the evidence.” *Id*

In Harris, the solicitor told the jury if it believed the defendant’s version of the events, “don’t leave this jury room, don’t leave this jury box and he charges you and just let him go right now.” *Id* The Court of Appeals found the statement was not a “Golden

⁴Unlike “domestic terrorist,” “Dollar” does not indicate a propensity for violence of any kind.

⁵Appellant conveniently ignores the solicitor’s subsequent comment that it was an important case for Appellant as well.

⁶Arguably, the circuit court did not even rule on Appellant’s general objection. All the court stated after the objection was. “All right. Go ahead.” (TT, p. 417; R., p. 180). If this is construed as a ruling, the objection was overruled.

Rule Argument,” because it did not ask the jurors to put themselves in the victims’ place.

Id at 540

Similarly, the solicitor in this case did not make a “Golden Rule Argument.” Merely stating the jury’s decision was important to the community did not suggest any specific verdict, or ask the jurors to put themselves in the Victim’s shoes. Rather, it simply reminded the jurors their service as jurors was important to the community. Therefore, the circuit court properly overruled Appellant’s general objection.

CONCLUSION


Based on the foregoing, Respondent submits Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.